FILED

NO. A17-1730

November 19, 2018

State of Minnesota
In Supreme Court

**OFFICE OF
APPELLATE COURTS**

In the Matter of the Application of J.M.M.
o/b/o Minors for a Change of Name

BRIEF OF APPELLANT J.M.M.

ROBINS KAPLAN LLP
Katherine S. Barrett Wiik (#0351155)
Lisa L. Beane (#0395219)
Haynes J. Hansen (#0399102)
2800 LaSalle Plaza
800 LaSalle Avenue
Minneapolis, MN 55402-2015
Tel: (612) 349-8500
Fax: (612) 339-4181
KBarrettWiik@RobinsKaplan.com
LBeane@RobinsKaplan.com
HHansen@RobinsKaplan.com

Attorneys for Appellant J.M.M.

BARNES & THORNBURG LLP
Michael P. Boulette (#0390962)
225 South Sixth Street, Suite 2800
Minneapolis, MN 55402
Tel: (612) 367-8785
mboulette@btlaw.com

Statement of Issues

- 1. When a sole legal parent wishes to change the last names of her children, does a district court err by determining that notice of a pending name change is owed to the putative biological father who has no legally established relationship with the child?**

The district court determined that the putative biological father is entitled to notice of the pending name changes of J.M.M.'s two older children, even though he has no legally established relationship to the children.

Apposite Authorities:

Minn. Stat. § 259.10

Minn. Stat. § 260C.007

Minn. Stat. § 257.55

In re J.M.M., 890 N.W.2d 750 (Minn. App. 2017)

- 2. Did the district court err by concluding that the putative biological father “openly held out” the children as his biological children?**

After taking testimony from J.M.M. at two separate hearings and learning that the putative biological father D.G. had made no effort to establish himself as the father of her children, the district court nonetheless concluded that D.G. held the children out as his biological children by passively permitting third parties to assume that the children were his.

Apposite Authorities

Minn. Stat. § 257.55, subd. 1(d)

In re J.M.M., 890 N.W.2d 750 (Minn. App. 2017)

- 3. Did the district court err by concluding that a non-applicant parent remains entitled to notice of a minor's name-change application even though the non-applicant parent has threatened violence against the family if the applicant parent seeks to establish paternity?**

Minnesota's name change statute requires notice to a parent where *practicable*. The district court concluded that despite D.G.'s threats of violence against J.M.M. and her family if J.M.M. attempted to hold him financially responsible for the children, it was still practicable to provide him with notice of the name-change applications for J.M.M.'s two older children.

Apposite Authorities:

Minn. Stat. § 259.10

Statement of Case

J.M.M. seeks a decision from this Court stating the unremarkable proposition that as the sole legal parent to her children, she has the right to decide what her children's names should be, just as she alone has the right to make all other major life decisions for her children. A decision reversing and remanding with instructions that the district court promptly change these children's names to those names that J.M.M. requests closes no doors to a putative biological father attempting to establish a legal parent-child relationship in the future, should he choose to do so. Allowing J.M.M. to change her children's names without providing notice to any other putative parent is the only outcome consistent with Minnesota statutes as well as what justice requires.

Petitioner J.M.M. is the sole legal parent of her three minor children.¹ ADD.50. No other person has been adjudicated a parent to these children or appears on their birth certificates and no other person has executed a recognition of parentage or brought a paternity action. ADD.50. The children currently have the surname of J.M.M.'s former boyfriend D.G., despite the fact that J.M.M. and D.G. never married. ADD.60. J.M.M. escaped an abusive relationship with D.G. in 2013, relocated to Minnesota

¹ Because the putative biological father of J.M.M.'s children has threatened to harm her and members of her family, and J.M.M. wishes to remain free from the abusive relationship that she has worked hard to escape, J.M.M. refers to herself and the putative biological father D.G. by initials only. J.M.M. respectfully requests that the Court do the same.

with her children, and has since rebuilt her life and graduated from college. *See* ADD. 57-59 at 21:22-23:3. As part of that abusive and controlling relationship, D.G. required J.M.M. to give the children his last name at birth, while at the same time forbidding her from putting his name on the birth certificates. ADD. 57-59. The children – who are now ages 9, 8, and 5 – know J.M.M. as their only parent, do not know D.G., and do not understand why they have a different name from their mother. ADD.41; ADD.44-45 at 4:25-5:8.

In October 2015, J.M.M. filed name-change applications on behalf of each of her children, seeking to change each child’s surname to match her own, since the children have no legal relationship with D.G. and he is not involved in their lives. J.M.M. sought assistance in filling out the applications from staff at the Hennepin County Self-Help Center, who informed J.M.M. that notice of the name-change applications to the putative biological father was not required if paternity had not been previously established. The district court, however, disagreed and concluded that notice to the putative biological father was required before the court could act on the name-change applications. ADD.36-39.

J.M.M. appealed that decision, and the court of appeals reversed in a published decision, concluding that the district court had applied the wrong legal standard to determine whether the putative biological father is a “parent” entitled to notice of the name-change applications under Minn. Stat. § 259.10. *In re J.M.M.*, 890 N.W.2d 750, 753-56 (Minn. App. 2017). The appellate court held that “Minn. Stat. § 259.10 does not require

an applicant-parent to provide notice of a name-change application filed on behalf of a minor child to a biological father who does not have a legally recognized parent-child relationship with the child.” *Id.* at 756.

The court also concluded that a district court should look to the Minnesota Parentage Act to determine whether a legal parent-child relationship exists that requires notice of a name-change application. *Id.* at 754. The court explained that its decision was in “harmony” with the Adoption Act, which does not require notice to a putative father if the father is not named on the child’s birth record, has not substantially supported the child, was not married to the natural mother on the record of birth, does not openly live with the child or the natural mother, has not been adjudicated the child’s parent, has not filed a paternity action, and has not registered in the adoption registry. *Id.* at 755.

J.M.M.’s case was remanded back to district court. Since no other person had established a legal relationship with the children, J.M.M. presented herself along with her required witnesses and her children for a hearing before the district court, believing that her children’s names would be changed at the hearing. Instead, the district court aggressively questioned J.M.M. at length about the details of her relationship with D.G. and the extent of D.G.’s contact with her children. *See generally* Doc. 42 May 15, 2017 Tr. at 3:14-35:22. The questioning became so intense and deeply personal that J.M.M. wished to have her children escorted outside the court chambers. The children left that day without their names having been changed.

The district court issued its findings of fact and conclusions of law on September 3, 2017, refusing to allow the name change proceedings to continue without notice to D.G.. ADD.20. Despite J.M.M.'s uncontroverted testimony that D.G. has refused to assume any legal or financial responsibility for J.M.M.'s children and that he has threatened J.M.M.'s family if she brings a court action to make responsible for the children, the district court concluded that D.G. is presumed to have a parent-child relationship with the two older children and therefore is entitled to notice of their name-change applications. ADD.25-31. The district court decided that J.M.M. could change the name of her youngest child without providing notice, as the court acknowledge that D.G. had never even met the child. *Id.* J.M.M. again appealed, and a divided court of appeals affirmed over a dissent from Chief Judge Edward J. Cleary. *In re J.M.M.*, No. A17-1730, 2018 Minn. App. Unpub. LEXIS 478, at *1, *18 (Minn. App. June 4, 2018) (Cleary, C.J., dissenting), ADD.1, 18. This Court granted J.M.M.'s petition for further review.

Statement of Facts

In October 2015, J.M.M. filed name-change applications on behalf of each of her children, seeking to change each child's surname to match her own, since the children have no legal relationship with D.G. and he is not involved in their lives. *In re J. M. M.*, 890 N.W.2d at 752. J.M.M. sought assistance in filling out the applications from staff at the Hennepin County Self-Help Center, who informed J.M.M. that notice of the name-change applications to the biological father was not required if paternity had not been previously established. *Id.* at 752-53. The district court, however, disagreed and concluded that notice to the biological father was required before the court could act on the name-change applications. *Id.*

J.M.M. appealed that decision, and the court of appeals concluded that the district court had applied the wrong legal standard to determine whether the purported biological father is a legal parent entitled to notice of the name-change applications under Minn. Stat. § 259.10. *Id.* at 756. The court of appeals held that "Minn. Stat. § 259.10 does not require an applicant-parent to provide notice of a name-change application filed on behalf of a minor child to a biological father who does not have a legally recognized parent-child relationship with the child." *Id.* The court of appeals also concluded that a district court should look to the Parentage Act to determine whether a legal parent-child relationship exists that requires notice of a name-change application. *Id.* at 755.

On remand, the district court conducted hearings on May 15, 2017, and May 31, 2017, to determine whether D.G. is entitled to notice of the pending name-change applications. *See* ADD.45; ADD.67. At the start of the May 15 hearing, the district court allowed J.M.M.'s children, who were initially present, to be excused, and then engaged in a close examination of J.M.M. ADD.46-47. The court questioned J.M.M. at length during both hearings about the details of her relationship with D.G. and about the extent of D.G.'s contact with J.M.M.'s children.

J.M.M. testified that she and D.G. lived together in various locations in Wisconsin from September 2008 until April 2013. ADD. 47 at 7:17-22, ADD.48 at 10:1-4. J.M.M.'s two older children were born during the time she and D.G. were living together. ADD.45 at 5:2-8, ADD.48 at 10:17-24. Even though J.M.M. did not want her children to have D.G.'s name, D.G. insisted they be given his last name. ADD.215 ADD.59 (J.M.M. testifying that she wanted her surname on the birth certificates of the two oldest children).

At the birth of her second child, D.G. asked the nurses to surrender the naming form that J.M.M. had already completed and demanded, while standing over J.M.M., that the child have his name. ADD.58-59 at 20:17-21:25. J.M.M. testified about her son, "my intention was not to name him after [D.G.]. That was not what I wanted. That's what he wanted, and that was – he was going to do that no matter what." ADD.59. But D.G. refused to be identified as the father on either of the two older

children's birth certificates, and he refused to sign a recognition of parentage for either child. ADD.60 at 22:2-7.

During most of the time that J.M.M. and D.G. lived together with J.M.M.'s two older children, they lived with D.G.'s family friends or members of D.G.'s family. ADD.51-57; Doc. 43 May 31, 2017 Tr. at 6-24. J.M.M. testified that D.G. isolated her from her own family and friends. ADD.56 at 18:7-8. She also explained that she was the primary caregiver for the children, and her income was the primary source of financial support for the children. D.G. mostly refused to watch the children, and if he was responsible for their care, he expected J.M.M. to dress them and prepare any meals they would need while she was away from the children at work. ADD.66-68.

The district court also questioned J.M.M. at length about whether D.G. accompanied the children out in public and whether third parties who observed them together would have assumed they were a family. ADD.49-50, 63-64; ADD.70-79. Although J.M.M. agreed that it may have appeared to others that she, D.G., and the children were a family, she also testified that she had no way of knowing what bystanders might have thought. ADD.71-72, 76-79. J.M.M. specifically testified that D.G. never introduced the older two children, M. and D., as his daughter and son; instead, he referred to the children by solely by their names. ADD. 49-50 at 11:25-12:5, ADD. 63 at 25:20-22; ADD.70-72 at 22:25-24:3.

J.M.M. also testified that D.G. was controlling, emotionally abused and isolated J.M.M., and threatened to harm her family if she tried to

make him pay child support. *In re J.M.M.*, 2018 Minn. App. Unpub. LEXIS 478, at *1, *18, ADD.1, 18; ADD.40-42.

The district court issued its findings of fact and conclusions of law on September 3, 2017. ADD.20. Despite J.M.M.'s uncontroverted testimony that D.G. has refused to assume any legal or financial responsibility for J.M.M.'s children and that he has threatened J.M.M.'s family if she brings a court action to force him to take responsibility for the children, the district court concluded that D.G. is presumed to have a parent-child relationship with the two older children, and also that notice to him is "practicable." ADD.25-29. The district court ordered J.M.M. to provide notice to D.G. of the pending name-change applications before a hearing to change the names of the two older children can proceed.

J.M.M. again appealed, and a divided court of appeals affirmed. The court of appeals concluded that a presumed biological father under Minn. Stat. § 257.55 has a legal parent-child relationship with a child "unless and until the presumption of paternity has been rebutted." *In re J.M.M.*, 2018 Minn. App. Unpub. LEXIS 478, at *9, ADD.8. Consequently, the court of appeals affirmed the district court's conclusion that D.G. is a presumed father of J.M.M.'s two older children and concluded that as a putative biological father, D.G. is a parent entitled to notice of a pending name change. *In re J.M.M.*, 2018 Minn. App. Unpub. LEXIS 478, at *9-14, ADD.11-12. The court of appeals also affirmed the district court's conclusion that notice to D.G. is practicable because it can be "safely accomplished," despite J.M.M.'s allegations of domestic abuse and

uncontroverted testimony regarding D.G.'s threats of violence. *In re J.M.M.*, 2018 Minn. App. Unpub. LEXIS 478, at *16, ADD.13.

In dissent, Chief Judge Edward J. Cleary agreed with J.M.M. that a mere presumption of paternity is insufficient to entitle a putative parent to notice of a pending name change. *In re J.M.M.*, 2018 Minn. App. Unpub. LEXIS 478, at *21. (Cleary, C.J., dissenting), ADD.18. Chief Judge Cleary also concluded that J.M.M. had rebutted any presumption of paternity based on D.G.'s failure to support or take any legal role in the children's lives and his limited contact with them. *Id.* Lastly, Chief Judge Cleary explained that the district court should have found that notice to D.G. was not "practicable," based on the threats of violence D.G. has made towards J.M.M. and her family. *Id.*, at *21-22 (Cleary, C.J., dissenting), ADD.18-19. Supporting his analysis, Chief Judge Cleary asserted that such "threats of domestic violence must be taken seriously." *Id.*, at *22 (Cleary, C.J., dissenting), ADD.19.

Argument

I. Standard of review

The district court's interpretation of Minnesota statutes is a question of law that is reviewed de novo. *Thompson v. Schrimsher*, 906 N.W.2d 495, 498 (Minn. 2018).

The district court's application of the law to the facts of this case is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Id.* at 500. "A district court abuses its discretion when its decision is based on an erroneous view of the law or is against logic and the facts in the record." *Id.* (quotation omitted).

II. The district court erred by concluding that the putative biological father of J.M.M.'s children is a "parent" entitled to notice of a name-change hearing, despite having no legal relationship with the children.

In the first appeal, the court of appeals concluded that D.G. is a legal parent entitled to notice of the pending name-change applications for J.M.M.'s children only if he has a legally recognized relationship with the children under the Parentage Act, Minn. Stat. §§ 257.51-75. Under the Parentage Act, the parent-child relationship between a child and a biological father may be established under Minn. Stat. §§ 275.51-257.75. *See* Minn. Stat. § 257.54(b).

Because J.M.M. and D.G. neither married nor attempted to marry and never executed a recognition of parentage in accordance with Minn. Stat. § 257.75, the only provision of Minn. Stat. § 257.55 that could

arguably apply in this case is subdivision 1(d). Subdivision 1(d) provides that a man is presumed to be the biological father of a child if “while the child is under the age of majority, he receives the child into his home *and openly holds out the child as his biological child.*” Minn. Stat. § 257.55, subd. 1(d) (emphasis added). This presumption can be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence. Minn. Stat. § 257.55, subd. 2.

By determining that D.G. is entitled to notice of the pending name change, the district court erred in three ways. First, a mere presumed parent with no legal relationship with the child is not entitled to notice of a minor child’s pending name change. Second, even if notice is owed to a mere presumed parent, the district court erred in determining that D.G. is a presumed parent because the evidence does not support the conclusion that he held M. and D. out as his biological children under any reasonable interpretation of the statute. Third, the district court failed to recognize that the presumption can be rebutted and that, based on the evidence in this record, any presumption of D.G.’s paternity is rebutted here by the many years that have passed, during which time D.G. has had no contact with the children and has done nothing whatsoever to care for, parent, or provide for the children.

- A. When no other parent has established a legal relationship with a minor child, Minnesota law permits the sole legal parent of a minor child to change the name of that child without providing notice to any other person.**

Minnesota law requires that notice of a pending name-change application on behalf of a minor be given to “both parents,” if practicable.

Minn. Stat. § 259.10. The statute neither defines “parent” for purposes of this notice requirement nor provides guidance about the circumstances under which notice would be considered impracticable. In the first appeal, the court of appeals concluded that courts should look to the Parentage Act to determine who is a legal “parent” entitled to notice. *In re J. M. M.*, 890 N.W.2d at 756. In applying that decision, both the district court and the court of appeals erred by relying on a mere presumption, rather than a legal determination of paternity, to confer upon D.G. one of the many legal rights associated with being a legal parent.

- 1. Minnesota statutory law establishes that mere designation of presumed parent is insufficient to confer legal designation of “parent” and the rights that come with that designation.**

In the first appeal, the court of appeals concluded that to determine whether a person is a “parent” entitled to notice of a minor’s pending name change under Minn. Stat. § 259.10, district courts should look to the Parentage Act to determine whether that person is a legal parent. But on remand, and in the second appeal, the district court and the court of appeals erred in interpreting the Parentage Act. Specifically, the lower courts misunderstood the role of the presumptions outlined Minn. Stat. § 257.55, subd. 1, especially the role of the presumption established by subdivision 1(d). The lower courts concluded that if a person is a presumed parent, that putative parent automatically becomes a legally recognized parent for purposes of the name-change statute. But when viewed as a whole, Minnesota statutory law establishes that mere

presumption of parentage is insufficient to confer the rights and responsibilities associated with legal recognition of parentage. Instead, a presumed parent under subdivision 1(d) does not obtain status as a legal parent, and therefore is not entitled to notice of a name-change hearing, until either a recognition of parentage has been executed or a court has ordered an adjudication of parentage.

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