Case No. A17-1730

State of Minnesota
In Supreme Court

FILED

January 4, 2019

**OFFICE OF
APPELLATE COURTS**

In Re the Matter of the Application of J.M.M.
o/b/o Minors for a Change of Name

**BRIEF OF ATTORNEYS APPOINTED BY
THE MINNESOTA STATE BAR ASSOCIATION**

ROBINS KAPLAN LLP

Katherine Barrett Wiik (#0351155)
Lisa L. Beane (#0395219)
Haynes J. Hansen (#0399102)
2800 LaSalle Plaza
800 LaSalle Avenue
Minneapolis, Minnesota 55402
Telephone: (612) 349-8500
KBarrettWiik@RobinsKaplan.com
LBean@RobinsKaplan.com
HHansen@RobinsKaplan.com

*Attorneys for Appellant
J.M.M.*

BARNES & THORNBURG LLP

Michael P. Boulette (#390962)
225 South Sixth Street, Suite 2800
Minneapolis, Minnesota 55402

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

¹⁴ Most importantly, the record demonstrates that D.G. is a *poor* father, as in, an apparently hard-working parent who is nonetheless one car repair away from homelessness. (*See, e.g.*, 5/31/17 Transcript, 19) (Explaining that family was in apartment of their own, but “the car we were using broke down, so we had to pick between rent or fixing the car.”)).

children, nor does he apparently wish to.” (App. Br. at 30.) These allegations, even if true, are legally insufficient to rebut a presumption of parentage where J.M.M. acknowledges D.G. to be the biological father, and no other presumption of parentage exists.

2. A challenge to D.G.’s presumptive parentage without notice to D.G. is not an “appropriate action.”

Moreover, it is not enough for a party to rebut a parentage presumption by clear-and-convincing evidence. Minn. Stat. § 257.55, subd. 2 (2018). The statute limits attempts to rebut a parentage presumption to an “appropriate action.” *Id.* This court previously considered the meaning of the “appropriate action” requirement in *In re Estate of Jotham* and concluded that an “appropriate action” must satisfy the basic requirements (including standing and timeliness) of an action to declare the existence or non-existence of a father-child relationship. 722 N.W.2d at 455. Thus, in *Jotham*, the court refused to permit a surviving spouse to challenge a parentage presumption in a probate action because she did not satisfy either the timeliness or standing requirements of the Parentage Act. *Id.*; Minn. Stat. § 257.57 (2018). Such a restriction, the court reasoned, was consistent with “legislatively established public policy favoring presumptions of legitimacy and the preservation of family integrity.” *In re Estate of Jotham*, 722 N.W.2d at 455.

To determine the criteria for an “appropriate action,” the *Jotham* court

looked to Minn. Stat. § 257.57, which provides standards for when actions to declare the existence or non-existence of a parent-child relationship may be brought, and by whom. *Id.* In addition to these timing and standing requirements, Minn. Stat. § 257.60 lists the necessary parties to such an action, including each presumptive father and any alleged biological father. If either a presumptive or alleged biological father is beyond the jurisdiction of the court, he must, at a minimum, be given notice and an opportunity to be heard. *Id.*¹⁵

Read in conjunction with Minn. Stat. §§ 257.57 and 257.60, Minn. Stat. § 257.55, subd. 2's "appropriate action" limitation precludes J.M.M. from rebutting D.G.'s parentage in an action of which D.G. has no notice. As recognized by this court in *Jotham*, such an "appropriate action" must meet the minimum requirements of an action to declare the existence or non-existence of a father-child relationship under Minn. Stat. § 257.57. 722 N.W.2d at 455. Such an action, in turn, would require D.G., as a presumptive

¹⁵ The California Supreme Court reached a similar conclusion holding that an "appropriate action" under California's version of the Uniform Parentage Act was limited to "an action in which another candidate is vying for parental rights and seeks to rebut a...presumption in order to perfect his claim, or in which a court decides the legal rights and obligations of parenthood should devolve upon an unwilling candidate." *In re Nicholas H.*, 28 Cal. 4th 56, 70, 46 P.3d 932, 941 (2002), *as modified* (July 17, 2002), *as modified* (July 17, 2002); Minn. Stat. § 645.22 (2018) (requiring uniform laws to be construed uniformly).

parent, to be made a party, or at least be provided with notice and an opportunity to be heard. Minn. Stat. § 257.60 (2018). Precisely the issue before this court is J.M.M.’s desire *not* to provide notice to D.G. The absence of notice is fatal to any attempt to rebut D.G.’s presumption of parentage.

C. D.G.’s un rebutted presumption of parentage entitles him to notice of a proposed name change.

Having found D.G. to be the presumptive father of M. and D., the district and appellate courts correctly required D.G. to be notified of any change to his children’s names. On appeal, Appellant argues that, at best, D.G. is a “mere” presumed parent, not a “legal parent.” (App. Br. at 14–15.), Appellant contends that without a formal adjudication, D.G. lacks a sufficient legal relationship with his children to receive basic notice of something as significant as a name change. Appellant’s argument fundamentally misunderstands the role of presumptions under Minnesota’s Parentage Act.

As noted, presumptions of paternity exist precisely because “substantial evidence points to a particular man as being the father of the child, and formal proceedings to establish paternity are not necessary.” UNIFORM PARENTAGE ACT, § 4 cmt. (1973). Presumptions thus “serve the practical purpose of establishing paternity in the eyes of the law and the community until something more is done either to attack the presumption or to establish by action a father who will be viewed as conclusive in the eyes of

the law.” *Matter of Welfare of C.M.G.*, 516 N.W.2d 555, 558 (Minn. App. 1994).

This functional understanding of parentage presumptions is supported by the language of the Parentage Act itself. Minn. Stat. § 257.52 defines the parent-child relationship as the “legal relationship existing between a child and the child’s biological or adoptive parents incident to which the law confers or imposes rights, privileges, duties, and obligations.” Providing further clarification, Minn. Stat. § 257.54(b) provides that “the biological father *may* be established under” the provisions of the act. Minn. Stat. § 645.44, subd. 15 (2018) (“‘May’ is permissive.”). Nowhere does the Parentage Act indicate that parentage *must* be formally adjudicated in order to create a legally recognized relationship. It is precisely because a presumption of parentage exists (and has not been challenged) that formal adjudication is unnecessary. UNIFORM PARENTAGE ACT, § 4 cmt. (1973).

Indeed, because of the power of presumptions, many Minnesota children have never had their parentage adjudicated. By way of example, few married couples bother to formally adjudicate their children’s parentage. Minn. Stat. § 257.55 (2018). And the statute excludes these couples from executing a recognition or acknowledgement of parentage for a joint child. Minn. Stat. § 257.75, subd. 1 (2018); Minn. Stat. § 257.34, subd. 1 (2018). Instead, where a child is born to an intact marriage, the entire weight of her

parentage rests solely on the presumptions codified in Minn. Stat. § 257.55, subd. 1.

Of course, contrary to Appellant's arguments, children born to such unions do, in fact, have two "legal parents." Their father's legal status derives from the marital presumption. Because such status is presumptive, it may theoretically be challenged. Minn. Stat. § 257.57 (2018). But until such a challenge is raised, a married father is a "legal parent" to his children.

The error in Appellant's arguments may be best illustrated counterfactually. In place of a presumption based on openly holding the children out, we can imagine J.M.M. and D.G. were married during the children's births and never formally divorced. Imagine further that instead of the facts relayed, J.M.M. left simply to pursue another romantic relationship, taking the children with her and concealing their location from D.G. Now, having left D.G. behind, J.M.M. seeks to change the children's names to those of her new partner. Must J.M.M. provide notice to D.G.?

By Appellant's logic, no. D.G.'s parentage would still rest on a "mere presumption." And as a presumptive rather than an *adjudicated* parent, D.G. would not be entitled to notice under the name-change statute. Minn. Stat. § 259.10 (2018). Put differently, in order to accept Appellant's argument that presumptive fathers are not fathers, this court must disregard the very real relationships between married fathers and their children. Such an

outcome surely falls within the category of absurd results, which the legislature did not intend. Minn. Stat. § 645.17(1) (2018).

Appellant may object that parentage presumptions arising from marriage are qualitatively different from other presumptions, and thus entitled to a higher level of respect. However, elevating marriage over other parentage presumptions finds no support in the Parentage Act. To the contrary, a primary purpose of the Parentage Act was to “provide substantive equality among children regardless of the marital status of their parents. *Morey v. Peppin*, 375 N.W.2d 19, 22 (Minn. 1985); *Witso*, 627 N.W.2d at 65; *see also* Minn. Stat. § 257.53 (2018) (parent child relationship may exist regardless of marital status). This purpose is further reflected in the structure of the Parentage Act, which provides no hierarchy of paternity presumptions. Minn. Stat. § 257.55; *Kelly v. Cataldo*, 488 N.W.2d 822, 827 (Minn. App. 1992) (“[T]he legislature has withheld a declaration of the weightier presumption [or parentage].”). The Parentage Act was passed to place children born to married and unmarried parents on equal footing. *Morey*, 375 N.W.2d at 22. Any interpretation that purports to elevate marital parentage presumptions over others does violence to that central aim.¹⁶

¹⁶ Alternatively, Appellant may argue that such differential treatment already exists in the Juvenile Court Act, which privileges marital

Simply put, if receiving a child into one’s home, naming her after you, and holding her out as your own is “merely a presumption,” so too is marriage. To declare D.G. “merely a presumptive parent” is to paint Minnesota’s married fathers with precisely the same label. Appellant mistakes the power of a presumption. As a presumptive parent, D.G. is a “legal parent” until his presumption is rebutted. Because the presumption has not been rebutted, D.G. should receive notice of any name change.

D. D.G.’s custodial status is irrelevant to determining whether he receives notice of a proposed name change.

Finally, D.G.’s right to notice is not impacted by the fact that J.M.M. has sole custody of M. and D. Minn. Stat. § 257.541, subd. 1 (2018). This court has twice held that a custodial mother does not possess a superior right to change a child’s name over the child’s natural father. *Robinson*, 302 Minn. at 35, 223 N.W.2d at 139–14; *Application of Saxton*, 309 N.W.2d at 301.

Despite these holdings, Appellant claims that the lower court decisions requiring notice to D.G. “deny [J.M.M.] the full bundle of legal rights that come with her status as the sole legal parent to her children. They interfere with [J.M.M.’s] right to make legal decisions in her children’s best interests,

presumptions over others. Minn. Stat. § 260C.007, subd. 25 (2018). However, as already discussed above, the Juvenile Court Act aims at different ends than the Parentage Act, and also contains additional protections for unadjudicated fathers.

and to honor their wishes to have her last name.” (App. Br. at 19–20.) Respectfully, they do not. J.M.M. admittedly retains sole custody of M., D., and G. by operation of law. Minn. Stat. § 257.541, subd. 1 (2018). However, even a sole custodian does not have the unilateral right to change the children’s names without notice to their natural parent. Minn. Stat. § 259.10 (2018); *Robinson*, 302 Minn. at 35, 223 N.W.2d at 139–14. Appellant’s suggestions to the contrary misunderstand the law.

III. Providing notice of the proposed name change to D.G. is not impracticable nor has notice been waived.

“[N]o minor child’s name may be changed without both parents having notice of the pending of the application for change of name, *whenever practicable, as determined by the court.*” Minn. Stat. § 259.10, subd. 1 (2018) (Emphasis added). J.M.M. argues that the district court and the court of appeals erred by finding that notice in this case was practicable and had not been waived by D.G. because of his alleged threats of physical violence. These arguments are unavailing.

A. Providing notice to D.G. is practicable.

J.M.M.’s argument that notice in the present case is not practicable hinges on the phrase “whenever practicable” being found to be ambiguous. It is not.

“Practicable” means “reasonably capable of being accomplished; feasible.” *Black’s Law Dictionary* 1210 (8th ed. 2004). Common language

provides a similar definition. *See The American Heritage Dictionary* 1421 (3rd ed. 1992) (defining “practicable” as “capable of being effected, done or put into practice; feasible”).

When a statute, construed according to ordinary rules of grammar, is unambiguous, this court typically engages in no further statutory construction and applies this plain meaning. *State by Beaulieu v. RSJ, Inc.*, 552 N.W.2d 695, 701 (Minn. 1996). “A statute is only ambiguous when the language therein is subject to more than one reasonable interpretation.” *Am. Family Ins. Grp. v. Schroedl*, 616 N.W.2d 273, 277 (Minn. 2000) (quotation omitted).

The question is therefore whether giving D.G. notice of a pending name-change application was “reasonably capable of being accomplished,” or “feasible.” As found by the district court — and affirmed by the court of appeals — it was. J.M.M. knew where D.G. lived and how to serve him.¹⁷ (Add. 29). In fact, the record indicates that J.M.M. *has* communicated with D.G. since separating from him, when she contacted him to inform him of the birth of the youngest child.

¹⁷ J.M.M. states, without citation to the record, that she “does not in fact know where D.G. is living now,” having “not communicated with him in years.” (App Br. 30 n.3). J.M.M. had opportunity to testify to these facts, and did not. The district court’s factual conclusion that J.M.M. *does* know where D.G. lives is supported by the record and should not be disturbed on appeal. *See* Minn. R. Civ. P. 52.01; *see also Fletcher v. St. Paul Pioneer Press*, 589 N.W.2d 96, 101 (Minn. 1999).

Recognizing this logical application of the plain statutory language, J.M.M. argues on appeal that the statute “acknowledges that notice of a pending application . . . is not always possible *or advisable*.” (App. Br. 30 (emphasis added)). Contrary to this argument, the statute does not address situations where notice is “advisable,” instead limiting the consideration to whether notice is *practicable*. Minn. Stat. § 259.10, subd. 1 (2018). J.M.M. would have this court rewrite the name-change statute to require notice “whenever practicable or advisable.” But it has long been established that courts “cannot supply that which the legislature purposely omits or inadvertently overlooks.” *Wallace v. Comm'r of Taxation*, 289 Minn. 220, 230, 184 N.W.2d 588, 594 (1971). This is true even if the court disagrees with the wisdom of the legislature in not including an advisability consideration with the notice requirement. *See State ex rel. Timo v. Juvenile Court of Wadena Cty.*, 188 Minn. 125, 128–29, 246 N.W. 544, 546 (1933); *State ex rel. Coduti v. Hauser*, 219 Minn. 297, 303, 17 N.W.2d 504, 507 (1945) (quoting *Timo*); *Blanche v. 1995 Pontiac Grand Prix*, 599 N.W.2d 161, 169 (Minn. 1999) (STRINGER, J., dissenting) (“We have long recognized that [c]ourts have nothing to do with the wisdom or expediency of statutes. The remedy for unwise or inexpedient legislation is political and not judicial.” (Quoting *Hickok v. Margolis*, 221 Minn. 480, 485, 22 N.W.2d 850, 852 (1946))).

B. D.G. did not waive notice.

J.M.M. argues that the notice requirement should have been waived in this case “based on D.G.’s threats of violence against J.M.M. and her family.” (App. Br. 35 – 34.) This argument fails on both procedural and substantive grounds.

First, J.M.M. did not raise a waiver argument to the district court, nor did she raise the argument to the court of appeals. (*See* Add. 5 n.3). An appellate court generally will not consider matters not first argued to, and considered by, the district court. *Thiele v. Stich*, 425 N.W.2d 580, 582 (Minn. 1988); *see also Melina v. Chaplin*, 327 N.W.2d 19, 20 (Minn. 1982) (holding that issues not briefed on appeal are waived). This is particularly true where, as here, the new argument is raised in an effort to reverse the lower courts.

But even if this court were to look past the procedural default, J.M.M.’s waiver argument is substantively unavailing. In arguing that the district court was *required* to waive the notice requirement, J.M.M. focuses on D.G.’s alleged threats of violence against J.M.M. and her family. But when the argument is viewed in the full context of how it is presented, the flaw becomes clear. The waiver argument is only made in the event that this court rejects J.M.M.’s argument that “practicability” requires not only feasibility, but *advisability*. And the waiver argument is —at its core — that

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